
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet
8 June 2016

Time 5.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Executive

Venue Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership
Chair Cllr Roger Lawrence (Lab)
Vice-chair Cllr Peter Bilson (Lab)

Labour

Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Gibson
Cllr Milkinder Jaspal
Cllr Andrew Johnson
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Sandra Samuels
Cllr Paul Sweet

Quorum for this meeting is five Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the democratic support team:

Contact Dereck Francis
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 555835 or dereck.francis@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Support, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk
Email democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 555043

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording, and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declaration of interests 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (20 April 2016) (Pages 3 - 10)
[For approval]

4 Matters arising 
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting]

DECISION ITEMS (AMBER - DELEGATED TO THE CABINET)

5 Resource base provision at Bushbury Hill Primary School (Pages 11 - 16)
[To consider the current position in relation to the resource base designated for 
pupils with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) difficulties at Bushbury Hill 
Primary School and to seek approval to commence initial consultation on the 
proposal to remove this provision]

6 Electoral registration and participation scrutiny review (Pages 17 - 58)
[To consider the recommendations from the scrutiny review group and the 
Cabinet’s response thereto]
[Note: The Chair of the scrutiny review group has been invited]



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Meeting of the Cabinet
Minutes - 20 April 2016

Attendance

Members of the Cabinet

Cllr Roger Lawrence (Chair)
Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Gibson
Cllr Andrew Johnson
Cllr Elias Mattu
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Sandra Samuels
Cllr Paul Sweet

Employees
Dereck Francis Democratic Support Officer
Keith Ireland Managing Director
Tim Johnson Strategic Director - Place
Kevin O'Keefe Director of Governance
Linda Sanders Strategic Director - People
Mark Taylor Director of Finance

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title
1 Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllr Peter Bilson.

2 Declaration of interests
No declarations of interests were made.

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (23 March 2016)
Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 March 2016 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

4 Matters arising
There were no matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5 Care Leavers Charter
Cllr Val Gibson asked Cabinet to approve the City of Wolverhampton Council’s 
commitment to the Department of Education’s Care Leavers Charter. The charter set 
out seven promises and principles to care leavers and endorsed the Council’s 
Corporate Parenting responsibilities in raising the expectations, aspirations and 
understanding of care leavers locally. Approval of the Charter was also a 
requirement of the New Belongings Project Action Plan.

Resolved
1. That Cabinet sign up to the Department for Education’s Care Leavers Charter 

which is a requirement of the New Belongings Project Action Plan and would 
endorse the City of Wolverhampton Council’s commitment to raising the 
expectations, aspirations and understanding of Care Leavers.

2. That Cabinet support the City of Wolverhampton Council to consider the 
principles when making key decisions effecting Care Leavers.

6 Scrutiny review of child sexual exploitation
Cllr Val Gibson reported that child sexual exploitation was a very important issue for 
Wolverhampton and the whole of the Country and that she was delighted that 
scrutiny had chosen this topic for a review.  She thanked Cllr Jasbir Jaspal, Chair of 
the Scrutiny Review Group, members of the review group and the witnesses who 
came to produce an impressive report.    

Cllr Jasbir Jaspal was in attendance at the meeting for this item.  She gave a brief 
introduction to the report containing the findings and recommendations from a 
scrutiny review.  She placed on record her thanks to the members of the review 
group, witnesses including the Cabinet Members for Education and Children and 
Young People, partner agencies and council employees who had all contributed to 
the review.

Cllr Val Gibson reported that Cabinet accepted all of the Review group’s 
recommendations.  She also reported that she was pleased to report that there 
would be an enhanced Police resource in Wolverhampton as part of the local 
response to child sexual exploitation. 

Cllr Roger Lawrence asked that progress on implementing the review 
recommendations be monitored that a clear action plan be developed from the 
Executive response.

Resolved:
1. That the report of the Scrutiny Review of Child Sexual Exploitation and the 

following recommendations from the review be received: 

Recommendation 1. The Head of Safeguarding to produce a six monthly 
newsletter on safeguarding matters for all Wolverhampton Councillors.

Recommendation 2. The Head of Safeguarding to ensure that the 
Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children Board Child Sexual Exploitation 
Strategy is updated to incorporate specific reference to the Board’s 

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

commitment to the aims and objectives detailed in the West Midlands 
Regional Child Sexual Exploitation Framework (July 2015).

Recommendation 3. The members of the CSE scrutiny review group to 
reconvene in October 2016 to consider progress in implementing 
recommendations agreed by Cabinet. The findings to be added as an 
appendix to the update report when presented to Scrutiny Board on 1.11.16.

Recommendation 4. The Chair of the Councillor Development and IT 
Advisory Group to contact all elected Councillors reminding them of their 
safeguarding responsibilities and the expectation that they will complete 
mandatory safeguarding courses. 

The level of Councillor non-attendance on e-learning safeguarding courses to 
be monitored by Future People Manager and reported six monthly to 
Councillor Development and IT Advisory Group.  

Recommendation 5. The Future People Manager in liaison with the relevant 
subject matter experts to undertake a review of the effectiveness of mandatory 
e-learning training course for Councillors to ensure that they meet their 
responsibilities. The findings to be presented to the Councillor Development 
and IT Advisory Group with recommendations.

Recommendation 6. Priority Lead – Communicate and Engage (WSCB) to 
detail proposals for further awareness raising in relation to the issue of CSE. 
The Priority Lead, Communicate and Engage, to detail plans for raising 
awareness of the issue among new communities who have moved to 
Wolverhampton and report findings to WSCB.

Recommendation 7. Wolverhampton representatives of organisations 
involved in the drafting of the West Midlands Metropolitan CSE Regional 
Framework (July 2015) to report annually to their respective boards on 
progress in embedding agreed processes within their policies and practices. 
Alan Coe to monitor and report progress to a future meeting of WSCB.

Recommendation 8. Be Safe – Junior Safeguarding Board to be invited to 
comment on the effectiveness of  policies aimed at  protecting children and 
young people from the risk of CASE  and report their findings to a meeting of 
WSCB.

Recommendation 9. The Head of Safeguarding to review and update the 
following documents:
Wolverhampton Response to Independent Inquiry into child sexual exploitation 
in Rotherham and Safeguarding Adults;
Children and Young People - Guidance notes for Councillors 2015. 

The Head of Safeguarding to send updated documents to all Councillors.

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Recommendation 10. The Head of Safeguarding to share a copy of Tackling 
child sexual exploitation – A resource pack for councils with all Councillors at 
the start of the municipal year. The document to be published prominently on 
City of Wolverhampton Council's Learning Hub for Councillors and the Council 
website.

Recommendation 11. Head of Safeguarding to brief all Councillors in 
advance of Safeguarding Week 2016 events.

Recommendation 12. Lesley Writtle, Director of Operations, Black Country 
Partnership Foundation Trust, to be invited to lead on a review of gaps in 
counselling support services in Wolverhampton aimed at meeting the needs of 
children and young people who have either been sexually exploited or 
considered to be at risk. The report to investigate evidence suggesting under 
reporting of victims of sexual exploitation from black and minority ethnic 
communities and young boys. The findings to be reported to WSCB.

Recommendation 13. Head of Safeguarding, to present annual report to 
Cabinet and other groups, as appropriate, on the impact of the work done 
during the previous 12 months to reduce the risk of children and young people 
becoming victims of CSE and also supporting existing victims of CSE and their 
families.  

Recommendation 14. Director of Education to review school Governor 
training provision to ensure maximum attendance at safeguarding training 
sessions. The findings to be reported to Cabinet Member for Education.  

Recommendation 15. Safeguarding Officer for Education to contact 
nominated Safeguarding Link governors, to discuss ideas that could help 
improve attendance at safeguarding training sessions. Safeguarding Officer 
for Education to monitor and report attendance on governor safeguarding 
training sessions quarterly to Head Teacher’s Safeguarding Committee.

Recommendation 16. People Directorate, Commissioning Leads to present a 
progress report to the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People within 
12 months on the impact of the changes aimed at strengthening 
commissioning policies, procedures and on-going support to better protect 
children and young people from the risk of sexual abuse or exploitation.

Recommendation 17. Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
and Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust to be invited to review 
the range of support available to the victims of CSE and their families, in 
particularly in terms of professional mental health support services available to 
both young victims and perpetrators in the community. The report to comment 
on the impact of raised awareness about CSE among adults who were 
previously victims of CSE during their childhood and the support services 
available to meet their needs. A progress report to be presented to the WSCB.

Recommendation 18. Wolverhampton CCG to report of the impact of 
safeguarding training for GP’s and other health professionals to WSCB. The 
report to include details of the number of referrals received from health 
professionals about safeguarding concerns, in particular issues relating to 
CSE.

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Recommendation 19. Priority Lead – Communicate and Engage (WSCB) to 
report on progress in compiling a comprehensive picture of faith groups and 
unregistered schools in Wolverhampton and the extent to which they are 
meeting their safeguarding responsibilities. The findings to be reported at a 
meeting of the WSCB.

Recommendation 20. Licensing Committee to consider suggestions from the 
review to further support work being done to encourage licensed taxi carriages 
and private hire vehicles operating within Wolverhampton to report 
safeguarding concerns.

Recommendation 21. WSCB to review progress and challenge as 
appropriate against the 12 Local Standards – See Me, Hear Me Framework. 
The findings to be published in WSCB annual report.

Recommendation 22. WSCB Business Priority Lead; Sexual Exploitation 
Missing & Trafficked (SEMT) Committee, to report to WSCB impact of planned 
changes and to review the extent to which available resources are being used 
to best effect when considering the scale and extent of CSE in 
Wolverhampton.

Recommendation 23. WSCB Business Priority Lead; Sexual Exploitation 
Missing & Trafficked (SEMT) Committee, to offer WSCB and local Councillors 
reassurance that any changes in the allocation of policing resources will not 
affect the capacity of the service to work individually and collectively to 
effectively disrupt and prosecute alleged offenders and also meet the needs of 
victims and their families.

Recommendation 24. WSCB Business Priority Lead; Sexual Exploitation 
Missing & Trafficked (SEMT) Committee to collate responses on the use and 
impact of new civil and criminal powers to safeguard children at risk and also 
children and young people considered to be at increased risk of harm across 
the region to WSCB.

2. That the Executive response to the review recommendations set out in 
Appendix 2 to the report be approved.

3. That the Cabinet response be referred to Scrutiny Board for them to monitor 
the implementation of the agreed recommendations.

7 Transportation capital programme, 2016/17 and future years
Cllr Steve Evans sought approval to a programme of capital funded projects to 
develop and maintain the transportation network for the financial years 2016/17, 
2017/18 and 2018/19, subject to available resources and annual review.  

Cllr Evans placed on record his thanks to the Transportation service and other 
officers of the Council for their excellent work in putting together a programme of 
projects to meet the City’s strategic and operational transport needs and in their 
success in bidding for additional funding to deliver on those needs.  

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Resolved:
1. That the list of projects for development and implementation as part of the 

Transportation Capital Programme 2016/17 and future years, as set out in 
appendices B and C to the report be approved.

2. That the Head of Strategic Transportation and the Head of Operational 
Transportation be authorised to proceed with development work for each 
project on the list including surveying, site investigation, options appraisal, 
feasibility analysis, traffic modelling, detailed design, statutory advertising and 
public consultation, as appropriate.

3. That the projects marked ‘Approve’ in the ‘Approval’ column of appendices B 
and C of the report be approved for implementation, subject to the availability 
of funding.

4. That the Cabinet Member for City Assets or the Cabinet Member for City 
Environment, as appropriate, in consultation with the Service Director, City 
Environment be authorised to approve, through an Individual Executive 
Decision Notice, implementation of the projects on the list marked ‘IEDN’ in 
the ‘Approval’ column of appendix B, subject to the satisfactory outcome of 
public consultation, availability of funding and any other relevant 
considerations.

5. That the Cabinet Member for City Assets or the Cabinet Member for City 
Environment, as appropriate, in consultation with the Service Director, City 
Environment be authorised to approve, through an Individual Executive 
Decision Notice, the bringing forward of projects from appendix C to appendix 
B and thereafter to approve them for implementation during 2016/17 subject to 
the satisfactory outcome of public consultation, availability of funding and any 
other relevant considerations.

6. That further reports be submitted at the appropriate times in order to obtain 
the necessary authority to construct the projects marked ‘Cabinet’ in the 
‘Approval’ column of appendix B to the report.

7. That the Director of Governance be authorised to serve all necessary notices 
in respect of the projects listed in appendix B and, subject to there being no 
unresolved objections, make traffic regulation orders as required.

8. That the revised medium term Transportation capital programme at appendix 
D to the report, reflecting six budget virements and the deferral of £1.5 million 
expenditure from 2015/16 to 2016/17 in relation to recent funding confirmation 
of Local Pinch Point Funding for work at the junction of A4123 Birmingham 
New Road / Shaw Road be approved.

9. That the expenditure and progress made in delivering the projects in the 
Transportation Capital Programme during 2015/16 be noted.

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

10.That the Council’s continuing success in bidding for additional funding and 
delivering new projects through the Local Sustainable Travel Fund, the 
Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund, the Local Pinch Point Fund, the 
Access to Growth Fund and the Managing Short Trips programme be noted.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
8 June 2016

Report title Resource Base Provision at Bushbury Hill 
Primary School

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Claire Darke
Education

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Julien Kramer, Education

Originating service School Planning and Resources

Accountable employee(s) Bill Hague

Tel
Email

Service Manager School Places and 
Transport
01902 556943
bill.hague@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

N/A

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Approve the commencement of a period of Initial Consultation on the proposed formal 
removal of the resource base at Bushbury Hill Primary School for pupils with Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) difficulties.

2. Approve the delegation of authority to the Cabinet Member for Education, in consultation 
with the Director of Education, to consider the outcome of Initial Consultation on the 
proposed formal removal of the resource base at Bushbury Hill Primary School and to 
determine whether or not to proceed to Formal Consultation (Representation).

Page 11

Agenda Item No: 5



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 This report considers the current position in relation to the resource base designated for 
pupils with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) difficulties at Bushbury Hill 
Primary School and seeks approval to commence Initial Consultation on the proposal to 
remove this provision.

2.0 Background

2.1 As outlined within the approved Joint Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
Strategy, the Council are seeking to promote inclusion, maximise young people’s 
opportunities to be independent and enable young people with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities to be recognised as fully integrated citizens with the ability to 
contribute to their local community.

2.2 Resource Base provision across the City is commissioned by the Council and service 
level agreements (SLAs) are in place with individual providers/schools. 

2.3 Council representatives are currently undertaking a review of specialist provision across 
the City. However, in light of the local circumstances facing Bushbury Hill Primary School 
(as detailed in Section 3) the proposed removal of Bushbury Hill Primary School’s 
resource base has been expedited.

3.0 Bushbury Hill Primary School

3.1 Bushbury Hill Primary School (located within the Fallings Park Ward) is registered as a 
community primary school with resource base provision for pupils with SEMH difficulties.  

3.2 Bushbury Hill Primary School is an improving school with strong leadership judged 
‘Good’ by Ofsted; however in 2015 the School failed to obtain the Government’s Key 
Stage 2 Floor Standards and outcomes for disadvantaged pupils were below 
expectations.

3.3 The School faces a number of existing challenges including:
 The School is located in an area within the top 10% for both the Overall Indexes of 

Deprivation and the Income Domain Affecting Children Index (2015 DCLG).
 A high proportion of pupils in receipt of Deprivation Pupil Premium (69% in 

2015/16, which equates to nearly three times the national average).
 A high proportion of pupils requiring SEND support (25.6% in January 2016).
 Higher than average exclusion rates.

3.4 In response to this challenge the Council have amended the School’s local classification 
to B2 and established a School Improvement Board in order to support a rapid 
improvement in outcomes.  In addition,  the Governing Body of Bushbury Hill Primary 
School have determined that it would be beneficial for the School to cease offering 
resource base provision in order to enable to allow more time to focus on teaching and 
learning and maximise opportunities to close the gap.

Page 12



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.5 In the 2015/16 financial year the Council commissioned and allocated funding for 10 
resource base places from the School.  In March 2016, there were just four children 
registered to the base.

3.6 As noted in Section 2.2, resource base places are commissioned by the Council on an 
SLA basis; Bushbury Hill Primary School’s three year SLA ended in March 2016.  To 
date, the Council have not commissioned any resource base places within the School for 
the 2016/17 financial year and there are no children on the Placement Forward Planning 
List seeking a place at the School. 

3.7 In light of the challenges that Bushbury Hill Primary School is facing it is recommended 
that a proactive approach is adopted and that the resource base is removed in order to 
allow the School to focus on improving standards.

3.8 It is proposed that the 10 place resource base for SEMH at Bushbury Hill Primary School 
be removed with effect from 1 January 2017.

3.9 No children would be displaced as a consequence of this proposal.

4.0 Proposal and Prescribed Processes

4.1 When exercising functions under ‘The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to 
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013’, local authorities must follow statutory 
guidelines detailed within ‘Making Prescribed Alterations  to Maintained Schools – 
Statutory Guidance for proposers and Decision Makers’ (DfE April 2016).

4.2 Statutory proposals are required for the establishment, removal or alteration of provision 
that is recognised by the local authority (LA) as reserved for pupils with Special 
Educational Needs in mainstream schools.

5.0 Consultation and Decision Making Timeline

5.1 When proposing prescribed alterations to schools LA’s must follow statutory consultation 
and decision making processes.  Subject to approval, the following timeline would apply:

27 June 2016 – 24 July 2016 (Initial Consultation)
Consultation with stakeholders including parents, staff and governors regarding the 
proposal.

August 2016 – Individual Executive Decision Notice
Consideration given to the responses to Initial Consultation and a decision made whether 
or not to proceed to Stage 1 of the statutory process.

12 September 2016 (Stage 1 - Publication)
The statutory proposal/public notice would be published.

Page 13



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

12 September 2016 – 9 October 2016 (Stage 2 – Representation)
Representation Period (Formal Consultation) – offers stakeholders a formal opportunity 
to submit comments on the proposal.

2 November 2016 – (Stage 3 – Decision)
Cabinet consider the outcome of consultation and make a final decision on the proposal 
in line with published decision makers’ guidance.

1 January 2017 (Stage 4 – Implementation)
If approved, the proposal would be implemented.

6.0 Financial implications

6.1 In 2015/16 the School attracted £136,244 funding for this provision based on ten places 
at £10,000 per place plus an additional £36,244 top up funding based of the needs of 
individual pupils. In 2016/17 this funding has been withdrawn from Bushbury Hill Primary 
and has been used to support other priorities within high needs provision for 2016/17. 
[OJ/190516/X]

7.0 Legal implications

7.1 When exercising functions under ‘The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to 
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013’ and ‘The Education and Inspections 
Act 2006 – as amended by The Education Act 2011’, local authorities must follow 
statutory guidelines detailed within ‘Making Prescribed Alterations  to Maintained Schools 
– Statutory Guidance for proposers and Decision Makers’ (DfE April 2016).

7.2 A statutory process is required when it is proposed to establish, remove or alter provision 
recognised by the local authority as reserved for pupils with Special Educational Needs.

7.3 Such processes require compliance with the prescribed provisions to ensure sufficient 
consultation is undertaken and that relevant stakeholders are notified of proposals or 
decisions in a timely manner. [TS/16052016/B]

8.0 Equalities implications

8.1 An initial equality implications analysis has been completed with regard to the approved 
Joint Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategy.

8.2 Subject to approval to proceed, an initial equality implications analysis will be completed 
with regard to the proposed removal of the resource base at Bushbury Hill Primary 
School.  This assessment will be informed by the outcome of consultation and subject to 
progression presented to decision makers.

9.0 Environmental implications

9.1 There are no environmental implications relating to this report.

Page 14



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

10.0 Human resources implications

10.1 There are no human resource implications relating to this report.

11.0 Corporate landlord implications

11.1 There are no corporate landlord implications relating to this report.

12.0 Schedule of background papers

 Cabinet (24 February 2016) Joint Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategy

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
8 June 2016

Report title Electoral registration and participation scrutiny 
review

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member to give 
management response

Cllr Andrew Johnson
Cabinet Member for Resources

Key decision No
In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Review Chair Cllr Paul Singh (Con)
Review Members Labour

Cllr Harman Banger                                                   
Cllr Bishan Dass 
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Linda Leach 
Cllr  Jacqueline Sweetman                                
Cllr Daniel Warren

Conservative
Cllr Wendy Thompson
Cllr Jonathan Yardley                                   

Liberal Democrat
Cllr Richard Whitehouse

Lead Scrutiny Review 
Officer

Aaron Toussaint
Tel. Office: 01902 550101
E-mail: Aaron.Toussaint@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Link Officer Martyn Sargeant
Group Manager – Corporate Administration 
Tel. Office: 01902 555045
E-mail: Martyn.Sargeant@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Strategic Executive Team
Executive Team 
Cabinet 

5 April 2016
29 February 2016
23 March 2016

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:
Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Receive the Electoral registration and participation scrutiny report attached in Appendix 
1, and consider the following recommendations from the review. 

 Recommendation 1: All electors be sent a personalised letter about voting 
upon reaching the age of 18.

Page 17

Agenda Item No: 6

mailto:E-mail:%20Aaron.Toussaint@wolverhampton.gov.uk
mailto:E-mail:%20Martyn.Sargeant@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 Recommendation 2: Elections / Council should review how we engage with 
different groups to undertake statutory and non-statutory functions to identify 
opportunities to promote registration, particularly among those currently under-
represented.

 Recommendation 3: Work with organisations to encourage clients to register to 
vote while in triage and/or waiting for a meeting with an adviser.

 Recommendation 4: Engage younger people with elections – different job 
opportunities (e.g. at the count or in polling stations).

 Recommendation 5: Undertake scoping work to determine the feasibility of 
requiring organisations bidding for council contracts to aid work to increase 
registration in Wolverhampton as part of the Social Value test, in a way that is 
not burdensome for organisations.

 Recommendation 6: Work with local organisations to develop an engagement 
programme targeting different demographic groups and communities.

 Recommendation 7: Develop a programme of engagement with schools, 
colleges and universities.

 Recommendation 8: Provide information about the importance of registering to 
vote, and how to vote at the citizenship ceremony.

 Recommendation 9: Make it clear who is eligible to register and vote at 
particular elections.

 Recommendation 10: Provide information (signpost) to where residents can 
find out more about the UK political system.

 Recommendation 11: Make all information as accessible as possible, such as 
visually (e.g. infographics) for those that struggle to read/write.

 Recommendation 12: Erect posters providing basic information – how to vote, 
who to contact for more information etc.

 Recommendation 13: Actively encourage those producing documents to make 
the language used (such as manifestos) easy to understand and available in 
different languages.

 Recommendation 14: The council should review the range of communication 
methods currently used with a view to produce documents for those unable to 
read/write (such as videos detailing how to vote).

2. Approve the Executive response to the review recommendations set out in Appendix 2.

3. Refer the Cabinet response to Scrutiny Board for them to monitor the implementation of
the agreed recommendations.

Page 18



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Executive summary

Low registration rates and election turnout is a national issue, and is more prevalent 
among specific groups, including private and social renters, young people and students, 
some ethnic minority groups and those with a disability. 

Voter registration:
As of 1 February 2016 there are 177,580 on the electoral register in Wolverhampton – a 
reduction of 1854 residents from the previously published version. The latest population 
statistics state that the 16 and over population is currently 201,729 (Office of National 
Statistics annual mid-year population estimates, 2014), which represents an 88% 
registration completion rate (estimate as not all eligible residents are registered to vote).

Although anecdotal, feedback presented to the review group outlined that some residents 
are disengaged or self-disenfranchise to avoid being identified by central or local 
government. Further, some residents merely have no intention of voting – for reasons 
unknown to the Council – and therefore fail to register. Conversely, it should be noted that 
voter turnout figures show that many residents are registered yet do not vote.

The motivations for registering to vote are varied, but there are additional benefits such as 
improving credit scores. Respondents to the survey indicated that their main motivation for 
registering to vote was due to the importance of having a say (78.6%), followed by 66% 
stating that it was important to exercise their democratic right. The survey respondents are 
not, however, representative of Wolverhampton as a whole and therefore the results 
cannot be considered representative.

Concern that some residents have never registered individually but have always voted was 
raised. Although one of the aims of Individual Elector Registration (IER) is to make the 
Electoral Register more accurate, it is likely that some residents are unaware of the 
change of process and are now no longer eligible to vote.

Electoral participation:
There has been a decline in voter turnout at both local and national elections over the last 
decade (the period in which this review considered). In Wolverhampton, voter turnout has 
been particular low at local elections, and tends to be lower than the national average. For 
parliamentary elections, voter turnout in Wolverhampton North East and South East are 
consistently below the national average. Wolverhampton South West, however, offers a 
contrasting view as voter turnout since 1997 has consistently been above the national 
average.1

At local elections voter turnout in nine out of the 20 wards that make up Wolverhampton 
are consistently below the city average. Turnout at other electoral events, such as the 
2011 referendum (38.3%) and the 2012 Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) elections 
(10.2%) were lower than the national average. Turnout in these elections are, however, 
comparable to other Black Country local authorities.

1 Voter turnout rates do not take into account the number of residents eligible to vote but not registered to do 
so. It is therefore not possible to give a completely accurate picture of the number of non-voters in 
Wolverhampton.

Page 19



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Recommendations
The issues identified during the review broadly fall into the following three themes, with 
some cutting across all themes: Engagement, Information and Communication.

The review group were aware of the need to suggest proposals that are proportionate and 
not overly burdensome in terms of internal resource, specifically staff time and cost. The 
cost, if any, of each recommendation will depend on how it is implemented if accepted. 

Engagement:
A consistent theme from witnesses relates to how the council and councillors engage with 
residents. Witnesses commented on the need to diversify the platforms and methods used 
to engage with residents, and the need for tailored approaches to target specific groups. 
For example, the voluntary and community organisations that presented evidence to the 
review welcomed the opportunity to work with the Council to facilitate registration among 
their clients.

Information:
Witnesses provided detail about the lack of information available on certain issues. The 
issues raised range from lack of information about politics and the council and little 
understanding of the UK political system, to those new to voting, such as 18 year olds. 
Recommendations relating to information aim to address very specific issues identified.

With regard to registration, witnesses and responses to the survey indicate that there is a 
lack of understanding of IER. IER changed the process of registering to vote: moving from 
household registration to a system where every individual of voting age (and 16 and 17 
year olds) is required to register. The need to make information available in different 
formats, such as infographics, was also raised.

With regard to voting, 41% of responses to the survey stated that receiving a 
leaflet/information about a candidate/party would possibly persuade them to vote at future 
elections.2

Communication: 
Witnesses commented that there was a lack of understanding among residents around 
issues such as the eligibility to register and vote, what terms in manifestos (and other 
documents) mean and what the council and councillors actually do. 

As an example, approximately half of the clients The Refugee and Migrant Centre (RMC) 
see are from the EU; some are therefore entitled to vote, but many fail to understand 
communication from the council and require the RMC to explain the content of documents. 
Conversely, Bite the Ballot, who have a very different target audience – young people - 
outlined the need to diversify how we communicate with residents, and make use of the 
different platforms available, such as social media. How we communicate with each group 
will need to be tailored to their needs.

2 This refers to elections generally and is not specific about voting intentions at either a local or national level

Page 20



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Progress to date:
Throughout the course of the review, the Elections team have taken the opportunity to 
engage with witnesses and implement potential recommendations that would improve the 
mechanics of how the council engages with residents. For example, work with the 
University of Wolverhampton began in 2015 to encourage students to work at the count 
(recommendation 4), as has work with the team responsible for Looked After Children 
(LAC) to identify how we could encourage and enable them to take part at the count/on 
polling stations for 2016 (recommendation 2 and 4).

Further, as noted in the Executive Response, all accepted recommendations are due to be 
implemented no later than January 2017. This will allow for the recruitment of an Electoral 
Services Manager, who will be responsible for implementing some of the 
recommendations, and for changes to be embedded well in advance of the local elections 
due to take place in May 2017. 

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To bring to the attention of Cabinet the findings of the Electoral registration scrutiny 
review in Appendix 1, and the recommendations in Appendix 2. 

2.0 Background

2.1 Scrutiny Board agreed on 30 June 2015 to undertake a review of electoral 
registration and participation. A review of registration rates and participation levels 
in the City was considered to be timely and appropriate, with low voter turnout, 
changes to the registration process and importance of greater local democracy and 
accountability.

2.2 It was agreed that the review should focus on issues that fall within the City of 
Wolverhampton Council’s remit: identifying the barriers to increasing voter 
registration and participation and building intelligence for our on-going democratic 
services work.

2.3 The review could not, therefore, consider the wide range of sometimes complex 
reasons why residents do not register to vote and/or vote. The review also did not 
consider issues related to understanding the influence of local or national politics 
and how this might impact on the motivation of residents to register and or vote.

2.4 To identify and understand the barriers preventing residents from registering to vote 
and/or voting, councillors wanted to hear from local organisations with knowledge of 
the subject. Councillors also wanted to hear from those with no direct experience of 
electoral issues but through the course of their work regularly communicate and 
engage with our target group - those that are traditionally under-represented. 
Witnesses were invited to suggest solutions to the barriers, and how the City of 
Wolverhampton Council could improve how it communicates and engages with 
residents.

Page 21



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.0 Financial implications

3.1 It is anticipated that any costs incurred in pursuit of the report recommendations can 
be contained within the existing £330,000 electoral registration revenue expenditure 
budget. [GE/27052016/X]

4.0 Legal implications

4.1 Section 69 of the Electoral Administration Act 2006 gives Electoral Registration 
Officers a duty to take such steps as they think appropriate to encourage the 
participation of electors in their area in the electoral process.

4.2 The Electoral Registration Officer (ERO) has a legal duty to compile and maintain 
the Register of Electors for the area. Individual voter registration was introduced 
under the Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2009 with further 
detailed provisions set out in the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 
(Transitional Provisions) Order 2013. Local authorities also have a legal duty to 
provide the ERO with the necessary resources to enable him to discharge his legal 
functions.  [RB/26052016/K]

5.0 Equalities implications

5.1 Equalities implications are dependent on whether the recommendations are 
accepted, and if accepted, how they are implemented. The review recognises that 
there are different registration and participation rates for different groups in 
Wolverhampton. These have been teased out during the review as far as possible, 
and recommendations drafted in a way that allows for the targeting of certain 
groups as appropriate. For example, recommendation 6 (Work with local 
organisations to develop an engagement programme targeting different 
demographic groups and communities) allows for the focus on different groups, 
such as certain BME groups, those with a disability and students. 

6.0 Environmental implications

6.1 There are no environmental implications 

7.0 Human resources implications

7.1 Human resource implications are dependent on whether the recommendations are 
accepted, and if accepted how they are implemented.

8.0 Corporate landlord implications

8.1 There are no corporate landlord implications. 

9.0 Schedule of background papers

9.1 Background papers for the review group meetings as follows: 
29 September 2015
16 November 2015
9 December 2015
19 January 2016

Page 22



Scrutiny Review: Electoral registration and participation

April 2016

Page 23



Foreword

I was honoured to chair a review assessing registration and participation rates in the 
City of Wolverhampton. Active public engagement in our democratic process has 
declined over a number of years at a national and local level, but this is one area that 
we need to do more to ensure that every resident has their views and interests 
represented. 

This is even more important when you consider the West Midlands Combined 
Authority will be electing a mayor in 2017, the importance of greater local democracy 
and accountability and the imminent referendum on our EU membership.   

The review group heard from a number of local organisations and residents about 
what the Council could do differently to improve awareness, understanding and 
engagement in the democratic process and our work. I would like to take this 
opportunity to extend my sincere thanks on behalf of the review group to all 
contributors. I would also like to thank all members of the review group for their 
contributions to improve the number of people who register and participate in 
elections.

The members of the review group and the Council now have a better understanding 
of some of the issues that prevent residents from registering to vote and/or vote, and 
intelligence to inform our on-going work. By implementing the review 
recommendations we hope that the process of engaging with the Council and/or 
voting is simpler, and encourages more local residents to exercise their democratic 
right to vote for their elected representatives and have a real say in how local 
services are managed and delivered.

Cllr Paul Singh, Chair
Electoral Registration and Participation Scrutiny Review

Page 24



Summary of the report

1.0 Scope of the review

1.1. Scrutiny Board agreed on 30 June 2015 to undertake a review of electoral 
registration and participation. A review of registration rates and participation 
levels in the City of Wolverhampton was considered to be timely and 
appropriate, with low voter turnout, changes to the registration process and 
importance of greater local democracy and accountability. 

1.2. The review focused on making recommendations to improve registration levels 
and address low participation rates in the City. It focused on issues that fall 
within the Council’s remit: identifying the barriers to increasing voter registration 
and participation and building intelligence for our on-going democratic services 
work. 

1.3. The review could not, therefore, consider the wide range of sometimes complex 
reasons why residents do not register to vote and/or vote. The review also did 
not consider issues related to understanding the influence of local or national 
politics and how this might impact on the motivation of residents to register and 
or vote.

1.4   Implementation

This report (and the recommendations) is due to be considered by Cabinet on 8 
June 2016. Cabinet will be asked to consider and support any 
recommendation/s that aims to inform future work on improving registration and 
encouraging more residents to vote. Where recommendations are accepted, 
responsibility for effective implementation will sit with the relevant service area, 
with oversight from the Scrutiny Board. 

1.5   The review group
Councillors
Review Group Chair: Cllr Paul Singh (Conservative)

Membership:

Labour: Conservative Liberal Democrat
Cllr Herman Banger Cllr Wendy Thompson Cllr Richard Whitehouse
Cllr Bishan Dass Cllr Jonathan Yardley
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Linda Leach
Cllr Daniel Warren
Cllr Jacqueline 
Sweetman

Page 25



Officer Support

Strategic Director, Governance Kevin O’Keefe
Lead Officer, Group Administration Martyn Sargeant
Policy Officer Aaron Toussaint

1.6 Contributors to the review
To identify and understand the barriers preventing residents from registering to 
vote and/or voting, councillors wanted to hear from local organisations with 
knowledge of the subject. Councillors also wanted to hear from those with no 
direct experience of electoral issues but through the course of their work 
regularly communicate and engage with our target group - those that are 
traditionally under-represented. Witnesses were invited to suggest solutions to 
the barriers, and how the City of Wolverhampton Council could improve how it 
communicates and engages with residents.
 

1.7 Witnesses were asked to consider the following questions: 

 How best could the Council communicate with residents about who is 
eligible to register to vote?  

 What work should/could the Council do with educational institutions and 
voluntary and community groups to increase knowledge about registering 
to vote and voting?

 What barriers, if any, do you think currently prevent eligible residents from 
registering to vote? 

 What else could be done to maximise electoral registration?

1.8 The review group heard evidence from the following witnesses:

 Ethnic Minority Council (EMC), Suffia Perveen, Project Manager
 Refugee and Migrant Centre (RMC), Olga Cenkute, Caseworker; Shawkat 

Lashkary, Senior Caseworker 
 YMCA, Beverley Momenabadi, Participation Coordinator; Vicky Rogers, 

Participation and Support Worker
 Wolverhampton Homes Tenant Engagement Group, Clare Poskitt, Tenant 

Engagement Manager
 Youth Council member / Youth MP, Emma Curran, Youth MP; Emerson 

Morris, Member of the Youth Council
 Bite the Ballot, Jessica Davis, Engagement Officer
 Citizens’ Advice Bureau (CAB), Wolverhampton, Helen Child, Chief 

Officer
 University of Wolverhampton, Yashiru Aboubakar, Student Union 

President

Page 26



1.9 The review also considered evidence produced by national bodies, specifically 
the Electoral Commission, Cabinet Office, voluntary and community 
organisations and recent reviews carried out by other local authorities, 
including:

 Bassetlaw District Council, North Nottinghamshire
 Buckinghamshire County Council
 London Borough of Merton

1.10 Two online surveys were also carried out by the review group – one aimed at 
organisations and one aimed at individuals – to ensure a wide range of 
residents and organisations could contribute to the review. In total 198 
individuals and organisations responded. Please see appendix B for the survey 
findings report. 

1.11 Overview of findings and recommendations
Low registration rates and election turnout is a national issue, and is more 
prevalent among the following groups:

 private renters
 social renters
 young people
 students
 some Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups
 Those with a disability (evidence suggests that those with a disability are 

more likely to be on the Electoral Register, but under-represented in terms 
of voting)

 those not born in the UK. 

1.12 Voter registration
In Wolverhampton there are 177,5801 residents on the electoral register; the 
latest population statistics2 state that the 16 and over population is currently 
201,729, which represents an 88% registration completion rate.3

1.13 Although anecdotal, feedback presented to the review group outlined that 
some residents are disengaged or self-disenfranchise to avoid being identified 
by central or local government. Further, some residents merely have no 
intention of voting – for reasons unknown to the Council – and therefore fail to 
register. Conversely, it should be noted that voter registration and turnout 
figures show that many residents are registered yet do not vote.

1 As of 1 February 2016; the first full electoral register since the end of the transitional arrangements 
for IER and sees a reduction of 1854 residents
2 Office of National Statistics annual mid-year population estimates, 2014
3 Estimated as not all residents are eligible to register and vote, and some are unknown to the council 
so not included in any official figures

Page 27



1.14 The motivations for registering to vote are varied, but there are additional 
benefits such as improving credit scores. Respondents to the survey indicated 
that their main motivation for registering to vote was due to the importance of 
having a say (78.6%), followed by 66% stating that it was important to 
exercise their democratic right. The survey respondents are not, however, 
representative of Wolverhampton as a whole and therefore the results cannot 
be considered representative.

1.15 Concern that some residents have never registered individually but have 
always voted was raised. Although one of the aims of Individual Elector 
Registration (IER) is to make the Electoral Register more accurate, it is likely 
that some residents are unaware of the change of process and are now no 
longer eligible to vote.

1.16 Electoral participation (voting)
There has been a decline in voter turnout at both local and national elections 
over the last decade (the period in which this review considered). In 
Wolverhampton, voter turnout has been particular low at local elections, and 
tends to be lower than the national average. For parliamentary elections, voter 
turnout in Wolverhampton North East and South East are consistently below 
the national average. Wolverhampton South West, however, offers a 
contrasting view as voter turnout since 1997 has consistently been above the 
national average.4 

1.17 At local elections voter turnout in nine out of the 20 wards that make up 
Wolverhampton are consistently below the city average. Turnout at other 
electoral events, such as the 2011 referendum (38.3%) and the 2012 Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) elections (10.2%) were lower than the 
national average. Turnout in these elections are, however, comparable to 
other Black Country local authorities. 

1.18 Recommendations
The issues identified during the review broadly fall into three themes: 

 Engagement 
 Information 
 Communication. 

4 Voter turnout rates do not take into account the number of residents eligible to vote but not 
registered to do so. It is therefore not possible to give a completely accurate picture of the number of 
non-voters in Wolverhampton.

Page 28



1.19 Recommendations from the review correspond to these categories with some 
cutting across all three broad themes. Please see table 1 for a full list of 
recommendations. 

1.20 Engagement 
A consistent theme from witnesses relates to how the council and councillors 
engage with residents. Witnesses commented on the need to diversify the 
platforms and methods used to engage with residents, and the need for 
tailored approaches to target specific groups. For example, the voluntary and 
community organisations that presented evidence to the review welcomed the 
opportunity to work with the Council to facilitate registration among their 
clients.

1.21 Information
Witnesses provided detail about the lack of information available on certain 
issues. The issues raised range from lack of information about politics and the 
council and little understanding of the UK political system, to those new to 
voting, such as 18 year olds. Recommendations relating to information aim to 
address very specific issues identified. 

1.22 With regard to registration, witnesses and responses to the survey indicate 
that there is a lack of understanding of IER. IER changed the process of 
registering to vote: moving from household registration to a system where 
every individual of voting age (and 16 and 17 year olds) is required to register. 
The need to make information available in different formats, such as 
infographics, was also raised.

1.23 With regard to voting, 41% of responses to the survey stated that receiving a 
leaflet/information about a candidate/party would possibly persuade them to 
vote at future elections.5 

1.24 Communication
Witnesses commented that there was a lack of understanding among 
residents around issues such as the eligibility to register and vote, what terms 
in manifestos (and other documents) mean and what the council and 
councillors actually do. 

1.25 As an example, approximately half of the clients The Refugee and Migrant 
Centre (RMC) see are from the EU; some are therefore entitled to vote, but 
many fail to understand communication from the council and require the RMC 
to explain the content of documents. Conversely, Bite the Ballot, who have a 
very different target audience – young people - outlined the need to diversify 
how we communicate with residents, and make use of the different platforms 

5 This refers to elections generally and is not specific about voting intentions at either a local or national level

Page 29



available, such as social media. How we communicate with each group will 
need to be tailored to their needs.

1.26 Progress to date
Throughout the course of the review, the Elections team have taken the 
opportunity to engage with witnesses and implement potential 
recommendations that would improve the mechanics of how the council 
engages with residents. For example, work with the University of 
Wolverhampton began in 2015 to encourage students to work at the ballot 
count (recommendation 4), as has work with the team responsible for Looked 
After Children (LAC) to identify how we could enable and encourage them to 
take part in the count of ballots cast or in polling stations at the 2016 elections 
(recommendation 2 and 4).

1.27 Further, as noted in the Executive Response, all accepted recommendations 
are due to be implemented no later than January 2017. This will allow for the 
recruitment of an Electoral Services Manager, who will be responsible for 
implementing some of the recommendations, and for changes to be 
embedded well in advance of the local elections scheduled for May 2017. 

Page 30



Table 1: Scrutiny review recommendations

No. Recommendation Target 
implementation

Responsible 
person

Engagement
1 All electors be sent a personalised letter about voting upon reaching the age of 

18
January 2017 Electoral Services 

Manager
2 Elections / Council should review how we engage with different groups to 

undertake statutory and non-statutory functions to identify opportunities to 
promote registration, particularly among those currently under-represented

January 2017 Electoral Services 
Manager

3 Work with organisations to encourage clients to register to vote while in triage 
and/or waiting for a meeting with an adviser

January 2017 Electoral Services 
Manager

4 Engage younger people with elections – different job opportunities (e.g. at the 
ballot count or in polling stations)

Currently 
underway

Group Manager – 
Corporate 
Administration

5 Undertake scoping work to determine the feasibility of requiring organisations 
bidding for council contracts to aid work to increase registration in 
Wolverhampton as part of the Social Value6 test, in a way that is not 
burdensome for organisations

Consulting with 
Procurement to 
consider how this 
could be 
implemented

Group Manager – 
Corporate 
Administration

6 Work with local organisations to develop an engagement programme targeting 
different demographic groups and communities

January 2017 Electoral Services 
Manager

7 Develop a programme of engagement with schools, colleges and universities Currently 
underway

Group Manager – 
Corporate 
Administration

Information
8 Provide information about the importance of registering to vote, and how to vote 

at the citizenship ceremony
Pilot registration 
exercise at 

Group Manager – 
Corporate 

6 Social Value relates to how the council could improve the economic, social or environmental well-being for residents and/or the City through contracts 
awarded to organisations. 

P
age 31



citizenship 
ceremony had 
limited success - 
investigating 
provision of leaflet 
to registrants

Administration

9 Make it clear who is eligible to register and vote at particular elections Complete – www.aboutmyvote.co.uk
10 Provide information (signpost) to where residents can find out more about the 

UK political system
Complete – www.aboutmyvote.co.uk

11 Make all information as accessible as possible, such as visually(e.g. 
infographics) for those that struggle to read/write

Ongoing Electoral Services 
Manager

12 Erect posters providing basic information – how to vote, who to contact for 
more information etc.

In time for 2017 
Mayoral election

Electoral Services 
Manager

Communication
13 Actively encourage those producing documents to make  the language used 

(such as manifestos) easy to understand and available in different languages
Limited scope but 
will offer 
suggestions 
through regular 
candidates’ and 
agents’ meetings

Electoral Services 
Manager

14 The council should review the range of communication methods currently used 
with a view to produce documents for those unable to read/write (such as 
videos detailing how to vote)

October 2016 
(target action date) 

Electoral Services 
Manager

P
age 32

http://www.aboutmyvote.co.uk/
http://www.aboutmyvote.co.uk/


Introduction - Electoral registration 

2.1 Residents that are 18 or over from the UK, EU or Commonwealth countries are 
eligible to register and vote in UK local elections. British Citizens living abroad 
and registered as an overseas elector cannot vote in local government 
elections. 

2.2 To register and vote for parliamentary elections, residents must be 18 or over, a 
British citizen or from a qualifying Commonwealth country and not subject to 
any legal incapacity to vote. 16 and 17 year olds can register to vote if they are 
due to turn 18 within the lifetime of that electoral register.  

2.3 The UK’s registration rate compares well internationally, but evidence suggests 
that a significant number of people are missing from the electoral register.7 The 
old electoral registration system where the head of a household would submit 
an application on behalf of a household/address was inaccurate and open to 
abuse. Although the number of cases of reported fraud is actually very low, the 
weaknesses identified in the old system had the potential to undermine 
confidence in the whole system. 

2.4 In Wolverhampton, as of 1 February 2016, there are 177,5808 residents on the 
electoral register; the latest population statistics9 state that the 16 and over 
population is currently 201,729, which represents an 88% registration 
completion rate.10

Individual Electoral Registration
2.5 The Electoral Registration and Administration Act (ERA) 2013 made provision 

for Individual Electoral Registration (IER), and moved from household 
registration to a system where every individual of voting age (and 16 and 17 
year olds) is required to register in order to vote.

2.6 To register under IER, each elector in every household is required to provide 
their name, National Insurance Number, nationality and proof of date of birth. 
Where possible, details were then matched against Department for Work and 
Pensions) (DWP’s) database prior to the individual being confirmed or added to 
the Electoral Register. Once registered, individuals are required to confirm 
annually that their details are correct.

7 Mark Harper MP, Parliamentary Secretary, Cabinet Office, Written statement on IER, HC Deb 30 June 2011 
c59WS
8 As of 1 February 2016; this is the first full electoral register since the end of the transitional arrangements for 
IER and sees a reduction of 1854 residents
9 Office of National Statistics annual mid-year population estimates, 2014
10 Estimated as not all residents are eligible to register and vote, and some are unknown to the council so not 
included in any official figures

Page 33



2.7 Issue 
Citizens’ Advice Wolverhampton and Bite the Ballot told the review group that 
there were still a number of people unaware that the registration process has 
changed. The survey supported this view, finding 50.3% (82) of respondents 
were unaware of this change, and 59.1% (97) were unsure how to register to 
vote under the new system. 

2.8 Solution
Building on evidence heard from witnesses, the council could run targeted 
campaigns in the lead-up to elections to remind residents of the need to 
register under IER and/or confirm details if they have not done so already. 

Recommendations
 Work with organisations to encourage clients to register to vote while in triage 

and/or waiting for a meeting with an adviser.
 Work with local organisations to develop an engagement programme 

targeting different demographic groups and communities
 Make it clear who is eligible to register and vote at particular elections

Groups with low registration and participation 
2.9 During the transition to IER, the Cabinet Office carried out some work to 

isolate the characteristics associated with lower registration rates to enable 
the Government to undertake a number of campaigns to increase voter 
registration. Analysis by the Cabinet Office and the Electoral Commission has 
identified that, on a national level, the five key groups that are under-
registered are:

 private renters
 social renters
 young people
 students
 those not born in the UK. 

2.10 In addition, there is evidence that identifies that those with disabilities are also 
under-registered. The Political and Constitutional Reform committee heard 
evidence from disability groups highlighting the issue, in particular the 
accessibility of registration and voting.11

2.11 Many of the issues identified during the review broadly fall into three themes: 

 Engagement 
 Information 
 Communication. 

11 Political and Constitutional Reform, Voter engagement in the UK, 2014

Page 34



2.12 Engagement
Witnesses highlighted the way the council engages with residents as an area 
that could be improved. Witnesses commented on the need to diversify the 
platforms and methods used to engage with residents, and the need for tailored 
approaches to target specific groups.

2.13 The YMCA highlighted the need to engage with young people and students 
early by engaging with schools, colleges and universities. There is a greater 
chance of continued engagement by contacting young people and students 
early, and explaining what the council and councillors do. This was supported 
by other witnesses, such as Emma Curran, Youth MP, who suggested that the 
council, councillors and MPs go into schools to talk about democracy and the 
work of the council. 

2.14 Mr Aboubakar, Wolverhampton Students’ Union President, spoke of students’ 
disconnection with the political process. The council does work with the 
University to engage with students, but it would improve engagement if the 
council/councillors could visit the university to give talks to explain what the 
council does, and incentivise people to register.

2.15 Detailing opportunities for young people and students to get involved in 
elections and the council would also help improve engagement with this group. 
In that, specifically opportunities to volunteer and/or undertake paid roles, such 
as at the ballot count or in polling stations. 

2.16 The Ethnic Minority Council (EMC) mentioned the need to engage in locations 
where local people frequent, and to work with local organisations and 
communities to help improve registration and participation rates. The Refugee 
and Migrant Council (RMC) had a similar message - that there is insufficient 
engagement with marginalised groups. By working with local organisations to 
target particular groups and tailoring how the council engages could be part of 
the solution. 

2.17 Citizens’ Advice also noted that they could work with the council, and 
encourage clients to register to vote while in triage and/or waiting for a meeting. 
This could also be done at other organisations and places, such as doctors’ 
surgeries. 

2.18 Wolverhampton Homes Engagement Group held two group sessions with 
residents to discuss electoral registration and participation. The groups were 
relatively well engaged - most attendees were registered to vote; middle aged; 
some had children aged 18-24 and consequently gave feedback based on their 
children’s thoughts. A common theme was that their children are not engaged, 

Page 35



largely because of national politics and the impact policies have on them, 
specifically housing benefit and the tuition fee rise. These do, however, fall 
outside of the remit of the council/councillors.

Recommendations
 Elections / Council should review how we engage with different groups to 

undertake statutory and non-statutory functions to identify opportunities to 
promote registration, particularly among those currently under-represented

 Work with organisations to encourage clients to register to vote while in triage 
and/or waiting for a meeting with an adviser.

 Undertake scoping work to determine the feasibility of requiring organisations 
bidding for council contracts to aid work to increase registration in 
Wolverhampton as part of the Social Value test, in a way that is not 
burdensome for organisations.

 Engage younger people with elections – different job opportunities (e.g. at the 
ballot count or in polling stations)

 Work with local organisations to develop an engagement programme 
targeting different demographic groups and communities 

 Develop a programme of engagement with schools, colleges and universities 

2.19 Information 
Witnesses provided detail about the lack of information available on certain 
issues. The issues raised range from lack of information about politics and the 
council and little understanding of the UK political system, to those new to 
voting, such as 18 year olds.

2.20 Witnesses stressed that there is a lack of understanding about the 
council/councillors and politics. The EMC told councillors that, in some 
communities, there is a lack of knowledge about the importance of voting, and 
that more could be done to inform residents of the benefits of voting. 

2.21 Emma Curran highlighted the need to provide information about the 
technicalities of voting – how to vote, first past the post, proportional 
representation etc. Providing this information as part of an on-going 
engagement should improve knowledge of democracy and the confidence to 
participate. 

2.22 The RMC detailed the lack of awareness with regard to who is eligible to vote at 
certain elections. Many of their clients are from the EU, with many unaware that 
they can vote in some elections. There is also a lack of knowledge about the 
UK political system, and political parties, and providing more information would 
help address this. It should be noted that many residents may not be aware of 
the need to register, as eligibility to vote in some countries requires proof of 
citizenship only. This information is available online, amongst other places, 
however it was felt the council could signpost to externally held information - 
such as the Electoral Commission – for those that visit the council website. 

Page 36



2.23 Providing information could also have a positive impact on residents voting, as 
41% of responses to the survey stated that receiving a leaflet/information about 
a candidate/party would possibly persuade them to vote at future elections.12 

Recommendations
 All electors be sent a personalised letter about voting upon reaching the age 

of 18.
 Provide information about the importance of registering to vote, and how to 

vote at the citizenship ceremony 
 Provide information (signpost) to where residents can find out more about the 

UK political system
 Make it clear who is eligible to register and vote at particular elections
 Make all information as accessible as possible, such as visually (e.g. 

infographics) for those that struggle to read/write
 Erect posters providing basic information – how to vote, who to contact for 

more information etc.

2.24 Communication
Participants at Wolverhampton Homes Engagement Group’s session 
commented that there was also a lack of explanation about why things are 
happening in the City, which resulted in some people feeling 
disgruntled. Responsibility for explaining events and issues should rest with all 
councillors and not merely the Cabinet Portfolio holder. Councillors discussed 
the need for elected members to look for other opportunities to communicate 
with residents.

2.25 The YMCA spoke about the need to tailor the communication to particular 
groups, including visual / infographics for those that are unable to read or write.  

2.26 The RMC informed the group that some of their clients need help completing 
voter registration forms. Many only complete the form to avoid a penalty for 
failing to do so. The RMC suggested working with local organisations as a 
platform to communicate with different groups to better engage with residents. 

2.27 The consistent theme from all witnesses was the need to diversify how the 
council/councillors communicate with residents. Emerson Morris discussed the 
need for information to be posted on platforms such as Facebook.

Recommendations
 The council should review the range of communication methods currently 

used with a view to produce documents for those unable to read/write (such 
as videos detailing how to vote).

 Actively encourage those producing documents to make  the language used 

12 This refers to elections generally and is not specific about voting intentions at either a local or national level

Page 37



(such as manifestos) easy to understand and available in different languages 

Page 38



Introduction - Electoral participation

3.1 For the purpose of this review, electoral participation refers specifically to 
voting. There has been a decline in voter turnout at both local and national 
elections over the last decade (the period in which this review considered). In 
Wolverhampton, voter turnout has been particular low at local elections, and 
tends to be lower than the national average. For parliamentary elections, voter 
turnout in Wolverhampton North East and South East are consistently below 
the national average. Wolverhampton South West differs as voter turnout 
since 1997 has consistently been above the national average.13 

3.2 At local elections voter turnout in nine out of the 20 wards that make up 
Wolverhampton are consistently below the city average. Turnout at other 
electoral events, such as the 2011 referendum (38.3%) and the 2012 Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) elections (10.2%) were lower than the 
national average. Turnout in these elections are, however, comparable to 
other Black Country local authorities. 

Figure 1: voter turnout, City of Wolverhampton

*Postal vote response rate relates only to those registered to cast their vote by post.  

Parliamentary elections
3.3 At the 2015 UK Parliamentary general election, Wolverhampton North East 

(55.7%) and Wolverhampton South East (55.6) received lower turnout than the 

13 Voter turnout rates do not take into account the number of residents eligible to vote but not registered to 
do so. It is therefore not possible to give a completely accurate picture of the number of non-voters in 
Wolverhampton.

Page 39



average in England, 65.8%. In contrast, Wolverhampton South West saw 
turnout of 66.6%.   

3.4 Wolverhampton does, however, achieve a similar turnout figure to the 
neighbouring authorities, Dudley (North and South) and Walsall (North and 
South). See appendix A for comparative data with neighbouring authorities at 
both national and local elections.

Figure 2: Voter turnout at parliamentary elections

Local elections
3.5 Electoral turnout at local elections has consistently been lower than 

parliamentary elections. There is a 25 percentage point14 difference between 
turnout where local elections were combined with parliamentary elections 
(59.5%) compared to when held as a standalone election or combined with 
other elections (34%). 

3.6 There is, however, a sizeable difference in turnout between wards. Penn 
consistently achieves higher voter turnout than the city average, seeing 70% 
of registered voters vote in 2015 compared to 58% across the city. In contrast, 
Bushbury South and Low Hill received the lowest turnout in both 2014 and 
2015 with 23% and 44% respectively. 

3.7 As figure 1 shows, response rate for postal ballots are consistently higher 
than the total turnout percentage of those casting a ballot. At the 2015 local 
elections there were, however, under 1,000 residents registered to vote by 
post in 13 of the 20 wards that make up the City of Wolverhampton. 

14 Figure taken when comparing all elections since 2006

Page 40



3.8 Table 2 and 3 detail the highest and lowest three wards for voter turnout in 
person and postal ballot response rate; please see appendix A (table 7 and 8) 
for the rank of every ward in Wolverhampton. 

Table 2: Highest and lowest three wards for voter turnout in 2014 and 2015 local elections

Rank 2015 Rank 2014

Highest voter turnout 1 Penn 1 Penn

2 Tettenhall Regis & 
Tettenhall Wightwick

2 Tettenhall Wightwick 

3 Merry Hill 3 Tettenhall Regis 

Lowest voter turnout 1 Bushbury South & Low 
Hill

1 Bushbury South & Low 
Hill

2 Heath Town 2 Heath Town

3 East Park 3 St.Peter's

Table 3: Highest and lowest three wards for postal vote response rate in 2014 and 2015 local elections

Rank 2015 Rank 2014

Highest response rate 1 Tettenhall Regis 1 Spring Vale

2 Tettenhall Wightwick 2 Tettenhall Regis

3 Bushbury North 3 Tettenhall  Wightwick,  
Wednesfield North, 
Bushbury North

Lowest response rate 1 St Peters 1 Bushbury South & Low 
Hill

2 Ettingshall 2 Bilston East

3 (Wards listed below) 3 East Park

Wards with the third lowest response rate: Bilston East, Blakenhall, Bushbury South & Low Hill, East 
Park, Heath town. 

Page 41



Appendix A: Voter registration eligibility and voter turnout

Electoral registration / eligible voters

The UK’s registration rate compares well internationally, but evidence suggests that a significant number of people are missing from 
the register.15 The old electoral registration system where the head of a household would submit an application on behalf of address 
was inaccurate and open to abuse. Although the number of cases of reported fraud is actually very low, the weaknesses identified in 
the old system had the potential for undermine confidence in the whole system. 

Eligible voters refers to residents that are 18 or over from the UK, EU or Commonwealth countries and can register and vote in UK 
local elections. British Citizens living abroad and registered as an overseas elector cannot vote in local government elections. 

To register and vote for parliamentary elections, residents must be 18 or over, a British citizen or from a qualifying Commonwealth 
country and not subject to any legal incapacity to vote. 16 and 17 year olds can register to vote if they are due to turn 18 within the 
lifetime of that electoral register.  

Voter turnout

Table 4: Voter turnout at European elections, the 2011 referendum and 2012 Police and Crime Commission elections

Turnout (%)

Year Electorate Wolves UK Dudley Walsall

European elections 2014 174,325 33.06 34.19 35.02 33.69

PCC (England & Wales only) 2012 176,275 10.19 15.1 11.4 10.72

Referendum 2011 170,751 38.30 41 36.1 37.79

European elections 2009 170,507 33.2 34.5 33.9 30.5

15 Mark Harper MP, Parliamentary Secretary, Cabinet Office, Written statement on IER, HC Deb 30 June 2011 c59WS

P
age 42



Table 5: Voter turnout at local elections

Turnout (%)

Year Electorate Wolves England Dudley Sandwell Walsall

Local election & parliamentary 2015 180,104 58.32 65.2 63.1 56.4 60.9

Local election & European 2014 178,273 32.67 36 35.7 31.7 34.5

Local election 2012 176,922 27.42 31.5 29.7 25.4 29

Local election & referendum 2011 164,938 38.65 42.7 39.2 36.3 38.7

Local election & parliamentary 2010 170,857 61.42 63.1 65.8 59.1 61.8

Local election 2008 177,619 35.29 35.4 35.6 31.8 29.3

Local election 2007 178,096 35.97 38.3 36.7 36.1 33.8

Local election 2006 178,366 36.47 36 36.2 36.7 34.9

*Turnout data for Dudley, Sandwell, and Walsall are sourced from the Electoral Commission and relate to all votes cast, including rejected ballot papers. 

Table 6: Voter turnout at parliamentary elections

Turnout (%)

Year Electorate Wolves England Dudley* Walsall*

Parliamentary & local elections 2015 183,989 59 66.1 63 58.4

Parliamentary & local elections 2010 177,660 62 66 63 60

Parliamentary & local elections 2005 181,738 56 61 60 56

Turnout data for Dudley (Dudley North and Dudley South), and Walsall (Walsall North and Walsall South) are sourced from the Electoral Commission and 
relate to all votes cast, including rejected ballot papers. 

P
age 43



Voter turnout by ward

Table 7 outlines the rank by ward for voter turnout at the 2014 and 2015 local elections. Penn saw the highest turnout in 2015 with 
70% turnout, compared to Bushbury South and Low Hill, which saw 44% of eligible cast a ballot. Table 8 ranks wards based on 
postal ballot response rate for the same electoral event, with Tettenhall Regis achieving an 87% response rate compared to St. 
Peters which achieved a 74% response rate. 

P
age 44



Table 7: Voter turnout rank by ward, local elections 2014 & 2015

Rank 2015 Rank 2014
1 Penn 1 Penn
=2 Tettenhall Regis 2 Tettenhall Wightwick
=2 Tettenhall Wightwick 3 Tettenhall Regis
4 Merry Hill 4 Spring Vale
5 Park 5 Park
=6 Bushbury North 6 Merry Hill
=6 Wednesfield South 7 Blakenhall
8 Wednesfield North 8 Graiseley
=9 Graiseley 9 Bushbury North
=9 Oxley 10 Wednesfield South
=9 Spring Vale 11 Wednesfield North
12 Bilston North 12 Fallings Park
13 Fallings Park 13 Bilston North
14 Ettingshall 14 Oxley
=15 Bilston East 15 Ettingshall
=15 Blakenhall 16 Bilston East
=15 St. Peters 17 East Park
18 East Park 18 St. Peters
19 Heath Town 19 Heath Town
20 Bushbury South and Low Hill 20 Bushbury South and Low Hill

Table 8: Postal ballot response rate rank by ward, local elections 2014 & 2015

Rank 2015 Rank 2014
1 Tettenhall Regis =1 Spring Vale
2 Tettenhall Wightwick =1 St. Peters
3 Bushbury North =3 Bushbury North
=4 Park =3 Wednesfield North
=4 Penn =3 Tettenhall Wightwick
=4 Merry Hill 6 Penn
7 Wednesfield North =7 Tettenhall Regis
=8 Fallings Park =7 Bilston North
=8 Graiseley =7 Blakenhall
=10 Oxley =10 Merry Hill
=10 Wednesfield South =10 Graiseley
=12 Spring Vale =12 Oxley
=12 Bilston North =12 Park
=14 Bilston East =12 Wednesfield South
=14 Blakenhall =12 Fallings Park
=14 Bushbury South and Low Hill 16 Ettingshall
=14 East Park 17 Heath Town
=14 Heath Town 18 East Park
19 Ettingshall 19 Bilston East
20 St. Peters 20 Bushbury South and Low Hill

Page 45



Scrutiny review: Electoral registration and participation
City of Wolverhampton Council

Appendix B: Scrutiny review: Electoral registration 
and participation

Survey findings report

December 2015

Page 46



Scrutiny review: Electoral registration and participation
Survey results 2015

Contents

Contents ................................................................................................................................................1

1. Introduction and key facts...........................................................................................................2

1.1 Background.............................................................................................................................2

1.2 Respondents and response rates............................................................................................2

1.3 Key facts..................................................................................................................................3

2. Registration...................................................................................................................................4

2.1 Introduction............................................................................................................................4

2.2 Registration and registering to vote .......................................................................................4

2.3 Motivations for registering to vote.........................................................................................5

3. Participation ..................................................................................................................................7

3.1 Introduction............................................................................................................................7

3.2 Voting at recent elections.......................................................................................................7

List of figures

Figure 1: Age of respondents..................................................................................................................3
Figure 2: Wards respondents are from...................................................................................................3
Figure 3: Motivations for registering to vote..........................................................................................5
Figure 4: Voting patterns at recent elections .........................................................................................7
Figure 5: Reasons for not voting at recent elections ..............................................................................8
Figure 6: Actions that could persuade respondents to vote at future elections ....................................8

Page 47



Scrutiny review: Electoral registration and participation
Survey results 2015

1. Introduction and key facts

1.1 Background 
Wolverhampton Councillors are carrying out a review of electoral registration and 
participation rates in the City. The review aims to identify potential barriers that might 
prevent local residents from registering to vote and/or voting. Evidence indicates that 
the following groups are under-represented in terms of registration and voting: 
private renters, social renters, young people, students, those not born in the UK and 
those with a disability, but there is recognition that existing barriers could impact all 
groups in Wolverhampton.

Councillors wanted to hear the views of local residents and organisations, such as 
voluntary and community groups, about the barriers and possible solutions to 
improve registration and voting rates. As such, two surveys were carried out – one 
aimed at residents and one at organisations. The surveys ran from 16 November to 
16 December 2015. 

The surveys were broken down into two broad sections: 

 Registration: the motivations to register, how easy they found the process, 
how to encourage residents to register etc.; and

 Participation (voting): Whether they voted at recent elections, the motivations 
for voting, how would encourage residents to vote in future elections etc. 

1.2 Respondents and response rates
The survey aimed at residents was sent to Citizens’ Panel members, advertised on 
the Council’s consultation webpage, Facebook page and circulated by our 
Participation Officers to local contacts. In total there were 196 responses. The survey 
targeting local organisations was sent to over 700 contacts and received two 
responses.  

39.7% (62) of respondents were female, 57.1% (89) were male, and 3.2% (5) people 
did not provide this information. Out of the 156 respondents to the question, 3.8% did 
not say whether their gender was the same as the gender assigned at birth. 4.5% of 
respondents that answered the question stated that they were from the LGBT 
community, with 9.1% that preferred not to say and 42 people skipping the question. 

11.6% (18) of respondents stated that they have a disability that affects their day-to-
day activities, with 9% (14) either unsure or preferred not to say. 41 people skipped 
the question. 82.7% of those that responded to the question about their ethnicity 
classed themselves as White British, followed by Asian with 4.5%. In addition, 64.5% 

Page 48



Scrutiny review: Electoral registration and participation
Survey results 2015

(100) of respondents considered themselves Christian, followed by 21.9% (34) that 
are not religious. 

The largest number of respondents was from Penn (10.5%), followed by Tettenhall 
Regis (9%) and Bushbury North (9%), and the fewest from Ettingshall (0.8%) and 
Bilston North (1.5%).

Figure 3: Age of respondents

Under 16 16-24 25 - 34 35 - 44 45 - 54 55 - 64 65 or Over skipped 
question

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Age of respondents

N
um

be
r o

f r
es

po
ns

es

Figure 4: Wards respondents are from

0.0% 2.0% 4.0% 6.0% 8.0% 10.0% 12.0%

Ettingshall
Bilston North

East Park
Bilston East

Bushbury South & 
Low Hill

Oxley
St. Peter's

Wednesfield South
Spring Vale

Fallings Park
Heath Town
Don't know

Graiseley
Wednesfield North

Blakenhall

Tettenhall 
Wightwick

Park
Bushbury North
Tettenhall Regis

Penn
Merry Hill

1.3 Key facts
Registration

Page 49



Scrutiny review: Electoral registration and participation
Survey results 2015

 98% of respondents are registered to vote
 78.6% of respondents stated that the main reason they registered to vote was 

because of the importance of having a say, followed by 66% of respondents 
stating it was important to exercise their democratic right. 

 97.9% (183) of respondents found the registration process very easy (123) or 
easy (60) 

 50.3% (82) of respondents were unaware of the change to the registration 
process (to Individual Electoral Registration), and 59.1% (97) were unsure 
how to register to vote under the new system

Participation (voting)

 72% of respondents that answered the question (7 people skipped it) vote in 
person and 27.5% vote by post. 

 The primary reason respondents gave for not voting at a recent election was 
due to a lack of information / knowledge about who to vote for (43.3%), 
followed by those that believe their vote would not make a difference, and that 
what they believe was not represented by candidates and/or parties (both 
14.1%)

 41.4% (53) of responses did state, however, that receiving a leaflet about a 
candidate/party could persuade them to vote at future elections.

2. Registration

2.1 Introduction
This section was designed to identify the issues related to registration – such as the 
reasons for registering to vote, reasons for not registering and what could be done to 
encourage residents to register. 

Residents that are 18 or over from the UK, EU or Commonwealth countries are 
eligible to register and vote in UK local elections. British Citizens living abroad 
and registered as an overseas elector cannot vote in local government elections. 

To register and vote for parliamentary elections, residents must be 18 or over, 
a British citizen or from a qualifying Commonwealth country and not subject to any 
legal incapacity to vote. 16 and 17 year olds can register to vote if they are due to 
turn 18 within the lifetime of that electoral register.

2.2 Registration and registering to vote
98% (192) of respondents state that they are registered to vote. This implies that the 
respondents are largely those already engaged with the council, to a degree. Four 

Page 50



Scrutiny review: Electoral registration and participation
Survey results 2015

respondents are not registered to vote, with three stating that they are unaware how 
to register but two are yet to seek advice. None of the four unregistered residents 
outlined what would encourage them to register.  

The two responses to the survey targeting local groups outlined the following barriers 
to residents registering to vote: lack of knowledge and desire, and a lack of 
understanding of their eligibility to register to vote, such as EU citizens. 

Individual Elector Registration (IER)

IER has been introduced and requires every individual of voting age (and 16 and 17 
year olds) to register individually in order to vote. This replaces household 
registration and details needed to be confirmed under the new system by 30 
November 2015 to ensure that they remained on the electoral register. 50.3% (82) of 
respondents were unaware of the change to the registration process, and 59.1% (97) 
were unsure how to register to vote under the new system. 

2.3 Motivations for registering to vote 
78.6% (147) of respondents stated that the main reason they registered to vote was 
because of the importance of having a say, followed by 66% (125) of respondents 
stating it was important to exercise their democratic right. Registering because 
people suffered to obtain the vote (37%) and the view that it should be a legal 
requirement/compulsory to vote also featured prominently among responses (29%). 

The two responses to the survey targeting local groups felt that the main reasons for 
not registering to vote were due to the parties/candidates being perceived as the 
same, a lack of information and due to the difficulty of registering. 

Figure 5: Motivations for registering to vote

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

None of the options 
listed

Don't know

I thought it happened 
automatically

Other (please specify)

Parental/family 
influence

Helps credit profile

It came through the 
post

Need to register so I 
can vote

Wanted to make a 
difference

To get the right 
candidate / party in

It should be a legal 
requirement/compulsory 

to vote

Women/people 
suffered to get the 

vote

It is my civic duty
I have always voted

To exercise my 
democratic right

It is important to 
vote/have my 

say/can’t complain if 
you do not vote

Page 51



Scrutiny review: Electoral registration and participation
Survey results 2015

3. Participation

3.1 Introduction
This section was designed to identify the issues related to voting at elections, such 
as the reasons for voting/not voting at recent elections, and what might encourage 
residents to vote at future elections.  

Voter turnout at both local and national elections has been in decline over the last 
decade. In Wolverhampton, voter turnout has been particular low at local elections, 
and tends to be lower than the national average; nine out of the 20 wards that make 
up Wolverhampton are consistently below the city average. Turnout at other electoral 
events, such as the 2011 referendum and the 2012 Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) elections were lower than the national average.

3.2 Voting at recent elections
There were four questions related to participation (voting) at elections, covering the 
reasons for voting/not voting and what might persuade them to vote at future elections. 

Excluding the seven that skipped the question, 72% (136) vote in person, 27.5% (52) 
vote by post and 0.5% (1) by proxy. 162 people detailed the recent elections that 
they voted at. As Figure 4 outlines, a high of 95.7% of respondents voted at the 2015 
UK Parliamentary general election, compared to 58.9% that voted at the Police and 
Crime Commissioner elections. 

Figure 6: Voting patterns at recent elections

154 145 137 122
89

137 111 135

7 14 22 35
62

18
39

22

20
15

 U
K 

Pa
rli

am
en

ta
ry

 
ge

ne
ra

l e
le

ct
io

n

20
15

 U
K 

lo
ca

l e
le

ct
io

ns

20
14

 U
K 

lo
ca

l e
le

ct
io

ns

20
14

 E
ur

op
ea

n 
Pa

rli
am

en
ta

ry
 e

le
ct

io
ns

20
12

 P
ol

ic
e 

an
d 

Cr
im

e 
Co

m
m

iss
io

ne
rs

 (P
CC

) 
el

ec
tio

ns

20
12

 U
K 

lo
ca

l e
le

ct
io

ns

20
11

 R
ef

er
en

du
m

20
11

 U
K 

lo
ca

l e
le

ct
io

ns

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Yes
No

Electoral event

N
um

be
r o

f v
ot

er
s

Page 52



Scrutiny review: Electoral registration and participation
Survey results 2015

41.3% of respondents stated that they did not vote due to a lack of information or 
knowledge, compared to 2.2% that did not believe in voting. 5.4% of respondents did 
not vote due to their perception that parties / candidates were all the same. The free-
text explanations included a lack of belief in the elections (PCC) and those that were 
away from home at the time.

Figure 7: Reasons for not voting at recent elections

41.3%

29.3%

14.1% 14.1%
8.7%

5.4% 5.4%
2.2%

Not e
nough

 

inform
ati

on/kn
owledge

 to
 

ch
oose

Other (p
lease

 sp
ecif

y)

Do not b
elie

ve
 m

y v
ote w

ill 

mak
e a 

diffe
rence

What 
I b

elie
ve

 in
 is 

not 

represented by t
he 

part
ies/c

an
didate

s

Not a
ble to

 ac
ce

ss 
pollin

g 

sta
tio

n or g
et a

 posta
l b

all
ot

Part
ies /

 ca
ndidate

s a
re al

l 

the sa
me

Not in
tereste

d in
 politi

cs

Do not b
elie

ve
 vo

tin
g /

 

politi
cs 

is i
mporta

nt

0.0%
5.0%

10.0%
15.0%
20.0%
25.0%
30.0%
35.0%
40.0%
45.0%

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f r
es

po
ns

es

41.4% (53) of responses stated that receiving a leaflet about a candidate/party would 
possibly persuade them to vote at future elections, followed by 25.8% that selected 
other. The free-text explanations included more honesty from candidates, being able 
to vote online and the need for more direct democracy. 

Figure 8: Actions that could persuade respondents to vote at future elections

41.4%

25.8%

14.8%
7.8% 5.5%

3.1% 1.6% 0.0%

Re
ce

iv
in

g 
a 

le
af

le
t a

bo
ut

 a
 

ca
nd

id
at

e/
pa

rt
y

O
th

er
 (p

le
as

e 
sp

ec
ify

)

A 
pe

rs
on

al
 v

isi
t f

ro
m

 a
 

ca
nd

id
at

e

M
or

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ab

ou
t 

ho
w

 a
nd

 w
he

re
 y

ou
 c

an
 

vo
te

Re
ce

iv
in

g 
a 

m
es

sa
ge

 (t
ex

t, 
em

ai
l) 

fr
om

 a
 c

an
di

da
te

M
or

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ab

ou
t 

ho
w

 to
 g

et
 a

 p
os

ta
l v

ot
e

A 
ph

on
e 

ca
ll 

ab
ou

t a
 

ca
nd

id
at

e

Kn
ow

in
g 

th
at

 y
ou

r 
ne

ig
bh

ou
rs

, f
rie

nd
s o

r 
fa

m
ily

 a
re

 v
ot

in
g

0.0%
5.0%

10.0%
15.0%
20.0%
25.0%
30.0%
35.0%
40.0%
45.0%

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f r
es

po
ns

es

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 2 Executive response: Electoral registration and participation scrutiny review 

Engagement

1. Recommendation 1   
All electors be sent a personalised letter about voting upon reaching the age of 18.

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
CONDITIONALLY ACCEPT
Subject to the data being available and usable for 
this purpose, a monthly batch of letters could be 
sent to young people who turn 18.

Young people aged 16 and 17 (‘attainers’) can already be 
included on the register prior to turning 18.
Target implementation date: January 2017

Electoral Services 
Manager

Recommendation 2 
Elections / Council should review how we engage with different groups to undertake statutory and non-statutory functions to identify 
opportunities to promote registration, particularly among those currently under-represented

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
ACCEPT
A review group can be formed to identify different 
‘touchpoints’ across the Council, particularly looking 
at known under-represented groups.

Target implementation date: January 2017 Electoral Services 
Manager

2.
3. Recommendation 3   

Work with organisations to encourage clients to register to vote while in triage and/or waiting for a meeting with an adviser.
Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible

ACCEPT
The same review group identified under 
recommendation two can identify key community 
groups.

Target implementation date: January 2017 Electoral Services 
Manager

P
age 55



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Recommendation 4
Engage younger people with elections – different job opportunities (e.g. at the count or in polling stations)

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
ACCEPT Partnership with the university in 2015 to encourage students to 

work at the count.
Working with LAC team to enable young people to take part at the 
count/on polling stations for 2016.
Sixth form students from St Peter’s School working at the 2016 
count.

Group Manager – 
Corporate 
Administration

Recommendation 5  
Undertake scoping work to determine the feasibility of requiring organisations bidding for council contracts to aid work to increase 
registration in Wolverhampton as part of the Social Value test, in a way that is not burdensome for organisations.

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer responsible
CONDITIONALLY ACCEPT Meeting with Procurement team to consider how this 

recommendation could be incorporated into procurement activity.
Group Manager – 
Corporate 
Administration

Recommendation 6
Work with local organisations to develop an engagement programme targeting different demographic groups and communities

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
ACCEPT The Refugee and Migrant Centre and the Ethnic Minority Council 

have both expressed an interest in working with the Council to 
support particular communities.
Target implementation date: January 2017

Electoral Services 
Manager

Recommendation 7
Develop a programme of engagement with schools, colleges and universities

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
ACCEPT Work under way with university to encourage registration and 

participation (e.g. attendance on campus registering students online, 
university providing two polling stations for 2016 elections).
Started work with Bite the Ballot to support work in academic 
institutions.

Group Manager – 
Corporate 
Administration

P
age 56



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Information

Recommendation 8 
Provide information about the importance of registering to vote, and how to vote at the citizenship ceremony

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
ACCEPT Pilot registration exercise at citizenship ceremony had 

limited success. Investigating provision of leaflet to 
registrants.

Group Manager – 
Corporate Administration

Recommendation 9
Make it clear who is eligible to register and vote at particular elections

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
ALREADY  COMPLETED
This information is already clearly signposted from 
the Council’s website and is confirmed to individuals 
through their poll cards.

http://www.aboutmyvote.co.uk/ n/a

Recommendation 10 
Provide information (signpost) to where residents can find out more about the UK political system

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
ALREADY  COMPLETED
This information is already clearly signposted from 
the Council’s website.

http://www.aboutmyvote.co.uk/ n/a

4. Recommendation 11   
Make all information as accessible as possible, such as visually(e.g. infographics) for those that struggle to read/write

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
ACCEPT
This can be incorporated into future material and 
publications.

Ongoing Electoral Services 
Manager

P
age 57



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5. Recommendation  12  
Erect posters providing basic information – how to vote, who to contact for more information etc.

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
CONDITIONALLY ACCEPT
Needs to tie-in with/support campaigns run nationally 
(e.g. by the Cabinet Office/Electoral Commission) to 
ensure complementarity of messages.

In time for 2017 Mayoral election (if it takes place). Electoral Services 
Manager

Communication

6. Recommendation 13  
7. Actively encourage those producing documents to make  the language used (such as manifestos) easy to understand and available in 

different languages
Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible

ACCEPT IN PRINCIPLE
The Council has limited scope to influence production of such 
documents, which falls within the remit of political 
parties/groups, but can make suggestions, for example, 
through the candidates’ and agents’ meeting that take place.

Electoral Services Manager

Recommendation 14
The council should review the range of communication methods currently used with a view to produce documents for those unable to 
read/write (such as videos detailing how to vote).

Comment Timescale/progress so far Officer Responsible
ACCEPT IN PRINCIPLE
The cost of producing audio visual material and disseminating 
it is likely to be prohibitive for the Council. However, there is 
scope to influence provision nationally in order to improve 
availability locally (e.g. suggesting the production of audio 
visual material for www.aboutmyvote.co.uk, as well as 
information in languages other than English and Welsh).

Target action date: October 2016 Electoral Services Manager

P
age 58

http://www.aboutmyvote.co.uk/

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting (20 April 2016)
	5 Resource base provision at Bushbury Hill Primary School
	6 Electoral registration and participation scrutiny review
	Appendix 1 - Electoral registration and participation scrutiny report
	Appendix 2 - Executive response


